**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
The Honorable Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

NOV 10 2014

Appellate Case No. 2013-002124

**S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE

APPELLANT,

V.

SHANNON SCOTT,

RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 192

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding Respondent Shannon Scott was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) when there was no evidence the victim was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering Respondent's dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, and
2. Whether the trial court erred in finding Respondent Shannon Scott was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Shannon Scott ("Respondent") was indicted for Murder (2010-GS-40-1457) in the shooting death of Darrell Niles on May 14, 2010. (R. pp. 303-304). On July 30, 2013, Respondent filed a Notice of Motion for Hearing Pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) and Motions to Enforce the Protections of S.C. Code § 16-11-450(A). (R. pp. 305-309).

An evidentiary hearing on the Motion was held before the Honorable Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge, on August 12-14, 2013. (R. pp. 1-302). Respondent was present and was represented by Todd Rutherford, Esquire. Id. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Dolly Garfield, Esquire, April Sampson, Esquire, and Brent Arant, Esquire, all of the Office for the Solicitor of the Fifth Judicial Circuit. Id.

On October 9, 2013, the trial court filed its Order granting Respondent immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. (Order, R. pp. 383-395). Appellant subsequently filed its Notice of Appeal.

The State now respectfully requests this Court reverse the trial court's Order granting immunity and remand this case for trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 18, 2010, Respondent Shannon Scott ("Respondent") shot and killed the victim, Darrell Niles. Niles was shot once in the head. At the time, Niles was sitting in the car he was driving. The windows of the car were up. Niles was unarmed, and there were no weapons in his car. Niles had not said anything to Scott. He was merely turning his car around on a street near Respondent's house.

### **Background Information**

On April 17, 2010, Respondent was engaged to Rosalyn Fuller. (R. pp. 80, 102). At the time of the hearing, Respondent had eleven children. (R. p. 101). On April 17, one of his daughters, Shade, went to a party at a teen club in Columbia with Rosalyn's daughters Ashley, Asia, and Ave; along with two young men, Denzel Davis and Antonio Bennett.<sup>1</sup> On that evening, Rosalyn was at Respondent's home. (See R. pp. 81, 101). The children were supposed to return to Rosalyn's home after they left the teen club. (R. p. 102).

### **Confrontation Outside the Club**

During the party and shortly after the party, Shade was involved in a confrontation with another girl named Teesha. (R. pp. 8-9, 19-20, 36-7, 64, 157, 159-60, 218). After the confrontation was over, Shade's group left the club in a 1993 Grand Marquis driven by Denzel. (R. pp. 10, 20, 49, 64-5, see R. pp. 37-8). They were followed by a group of females that included Teesha. (R. pp. 10, 20, 37-8, 157, 160, 256; see R. pp. 64-5). The group of females was driving in a

---

<sup>1</sup> Denzel Davis went by the nickname "Crackle." (R. pp. 48, 49). Antonio Bennett went by the nickname "Tone." (R. p. 63).

silver Ford Expedition. (R. pp. 157, see R. pp. 10, 20, 49, 69, 97, 107, 131, 152, 156, 248). Asia, Denzel, and Antonio testified at the hearing that when they initially pulled out in the median in front of the club, they saw a girl run up to their car with a gun in her hand.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 20, 49-50, 64). Shade also testified that she recalled Denzel stating that he saw one of the individuals in the truck having a gun. (R. pp. 10-11). Shade acknowledged that she did not see anyone from the truck with a gun that night. (R. p. 15).

Kiwiana Carter, the primary driver of the Expedition on the day of the shooting, admitted to law enforcement that there was a gun in the SUV. (R. p. 157). Carter also admitted that she followed the Grand Marquis. (R. pp. 157, 323-25, 349-51). Teesha also admitted that her group followed the Grand Marquis. (R. pp. 160, 329-30). Sergeant Reese noted that no one in the Expedition indicated there was another car following them. (R. p. 164).

Eric, the passenger in the victim's car, testified that he and the victim ended up following the two cars. (R. pp. 220-21).

#### **The children drive to Respondent's house.**

A car chase ensued. (R. pp. 11-2, 20-1, 37-8, 50-1, 69). None of the witnesses in the Grand Marquis testified they saw a red Honda chasing them. (R. pp. 14, 42, 54; see R. pp. 17, 254, 168, 312-19, 343-44). Asia did indicate that she saw a second car after they got to Respondent's house. (R. p. 22). She

---

<sup>2</sup> Asia identified the girl as Teesha. (R. p. 20). Antonio indicated he recalled this happening at a red light, not in the median. (R. p. 64). None of the three witnesses had mentioned seeing a girl with a gun in their statements to police. (R. pp. 40, 54, 69, 70, 79; see State's Exhibits 3, 4, 5, R. pp. 312-19). Investigator Reese noted that the first he heard of Teesha walking to the Grand Marquis with a gun was at the immunity hearing. (R. p. 170).

noted that she thought she saw the car turning around at the parking lot down the street. (R. p. 22). Rosalyn also testified that she recalled seeing a car turn around with the truck at the All State building down the street from Respondent's house.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 87).

During the car chase, Shade called Respondent. (R. pp. 11, 101-02). Shade testified that she told her father that they were being followed by a group of girls and that the group had a gun. (R. p. 11). Shade indicated that she never told Respondent about a second car. (R. p. 17). Asia, Ave, and Denzel were either not sure or did not recall if anyone mentioned a second car during the phone calls to Respondent and Rosalynn. (R. pp. 30-1, 42, 57).

Rosalyn testified that she initially received text messages from Ashley that stated their group was being followed by Teesha D. (R. p. 81). Rosalyn later received a phone call from Ashley, who was then using Shade's phone. During that conversation, Ashley indicated the other group was following them. (R. pp. 81, 83; see R. pp. 343-44). By all accounts, the individuals in the Grand Marquis were instructed to drive to Respondent's home instead of Rosalyn's home. (R. pp. 11, 85, 102, 344).

Eric indicated the victim wanted to make sure the girls in the first car got were alright. (R. pp. 221-22). Eric noted that the victim did not follow the chase closely, and at one point they lost sight of the other two vehicles. (R. p. 224). After following the two vehicles for a short while, the victim and Eric got lost once the chase went down neighborhood streets. (R. pp. 222-23). Eric testified they

---

<sup>3</sup> Rosalyn did not mention seeing the car during her conversation with the 911 operator or in her statement to law enforcement. (R. p. 97, State's Exhibits 7, 8).

turned onto a cul de sac, and then they started to turn around. (R. pp. 225-26). Eric noted that he saw the SUV parked on the road they were originally on. (R. pp. 225-26).

### **The group arrives at Respondent's home.**

When the group got to Respondent's house, they pulled their car into the backyard. (R. pp. 12, 21, 38, 51, 86, 104). There was some discrepancy as to whether Respondent and Rosalyn were outside when the car arrived. (See R. pp. 38, 86, 104). Respondent did not mention Rosalynn being outside. (R. p. 104). In her statement to law enforcement, Ave indicated that Respondent and Rosalyn were inside the home. (R. p. 41).

Shade and Asia testified that she saw the truck following them pass Respondent's house and later return with its headlights off. (R. pp. 12, 21, 23). Ave testified that she saw the truck's headlights turned off as soon as the Grand Marquis pulled into Respondent's backyard. (R. p. 39). Denzel did not see the truck after he pulled the Grand Marquis into the yard. (R. p. 52). Rosalyn testified that she saw the SUV pass Respondent's house, and she indicated she saw it turn around by the All State agency that was at the end of the street. (R. p. 87). She noted that the when the SUV turned around, the headlights were turned off. (R. p. 99). Rosalyn also testified that she saw a second car make the same turn. (R. pp. 87, 94). Respondent also testified that he saw the truck pass his house, and he saw another set of headlights following the SUV. (R. p. 104). Respondent further stated that he saw the SUV turn around, and there was

another car behind it. (R. p. 106). He noted that the SUV had turned its headlights off, but the car's headlights were still on. (R. p. 106).

After pulling into the backyard, the individuals in the Grand Marquis were directed to enter Respondent's house through the back door into the kitchen. (R. pp. 12, 21, 39, 51, 87, 104; see R. p. 66). At the hearing, several of the witnesses in the Grand Marquis testified that they heard gunshots while they were in the process of getting out of the car. (R. pp. 21, 22, 26, 39, 52, 65, 66, 87-8, 104). Specifically, Asia stated that she heard gunshots after the truck started driving back with the lights off. (R. pp. 21, 23). Ave asserted she saw a gun hanging out of a window in the truck, and she saw shots fired. (R. p. 39). Denzel also testified that he heard shots while they were still in the car in the backyard. (R. p. 52). Similarly, Antonio testified that he recalled hearing a gunshot as he was getting out of the car. (R. pp. 65, 66). Rosalynn also indicated that she heard a gunshot as the individuals from the Grand Marquis were entering the house. (R. pp. 87-8). Respondent also stated that he heard a "pow" while Rosalynn was getting the kids into the house. (R. p. 104). However, Ave, Denzel, and Antonio admitted that they did not mention hearing gunshots while they were exiting the Grand Marquis in their statements to law enforcement after the shooting. (R. pp. 42, 54, 61, 72, 79; see R. pp. 154, 169). Shade also testified she did not recall hearing a gunshot until she was in the house on the floor. (R. p. 14).

**Shots are fired in the vicinity of Respondent's house.**

Carter told Reese that while they were parked in the All State parking lot, they heard a shot. (R. p. 158). She indicated that after hearing the shot, she fired the gun that was in the SUV into the air. (R. pp. 158, 325, 358). Sergeant Arthur Thomas of the City of Columbia Police Department testified Carter had told him that she fired her gun, but she said she did so because someone had fired at their SUV twice. (R. pp. 247, 257-59). Teesha told Reese that as they drove past Respondent's house, she saw a black female along with a heavy set male and Respondent in the yard. (R. p. 160). She also stated that they heard a gunshot while parked at the All State parking lot. (R. pp. 160-61). After hearing a second shot, Teesha indicated Carter backed the SUV up and fired a shot into the air. (R. pp. 160-61, 330). Reese also interviewed Kyasia Corbit, another female in the SUV. She denied that anyone in the truck fired first. (R. pp. 162-3, 338). She also indicated in her interview that she heard two shots before Carter fired her gun once. (R. p. 336).

**Respondent's recollection of what occurred after hearing the gunshot.**

Respondent testified that after he heard the gunshot, he went into his roommate's room and took his roommate's handgun from beside his bed. (R. p. 105). Rosalyn called 911. (R. pp. 105-06). Lenny Williams, Respondent's roommate recalled hearing some gunshots. (R. p. 127). He saw Respondent come into his room and grab Williams' gun. (R. p. 127). Williams noted that Respondent did not say anything or warn him to get down. (R. p. 128). Shawnta Brown, Williams' girlfriend, recalled Respondent running into the bedroom and

getting the gun off the table. (R. pp. 133-5). She also testified that he did not tell Williams or her to get down, take cover, or that someone was shooting at them. (R. p. 134). She indicated she thought she heard one or two shots. (R. p. 134). Brown thought the shots sounded like they were close to the house. (R. p. 135).

Respondent ran outside the front door out to the front step of the house. (R. pp. 105-06). He saw the SUV turn around and there was another car behind it. (R. p. 106). Respondent testified he saw the two vehicles in front of his house, a Honda Accord and a gray or Silver Ford Expedition. (R. p. 107). He noted that he saw the headlights of the Honda. (R. p. 106). The SUV turned its headlights off. (R. p. 106). As it drove back towards Respondent's house, Respondent fired a warning shot and told them not to come any farther. (R. p. 106). After he fired the warning shot, the cars continued to move slowly and he recalled seeing the two stop in front of his house. (R. pp. 108-09). Respondent heard another shot. (R. p. 107).

He saw arms out of the truck hanging out of the window. (R. p. 109). He noted the red Honda was behind the truck. (R. p. 109). He also testified that the truck was facing the opposite direction that it had originally driven, and the Honda Accord was facing a different direction than it had originally gone. (R. pp. 109-10). He also noted that he saw the car come close to his house. (R. p. 107). Respondent ducked behind the front hood of his vehicle that was in the front yard, and he fired two or three times. (R. pp. 107, 108). He then went back into the house. (R. p. 107).

### **Others' testimony regarding the shooting.**

Eric testified he saw a man come out of the house, and he saw the man shooting at the silver truck. (R. p. 226). He did not see the man do anything else. (R. p. 226). Eric noted that as he and the victim pulled up to the intersection on the original road, the man who was shooting shot at the victim's car. (R. p. 227). Eric thought he felt the car swerve a little bit. (R. p. 227). After he called the victim twice, he saw the victim's eyes were closed. (R. p. 227). After hearing more gunshots, Washington got out of the car and ran away. (R. p. 230).

The three girls from the SUV that law enforcement could identify all indicated that after they heard the shots, and after Carter fired a shot out of the window of the SUV, Carter switched seats with the fourth girl in the SUV. (R. pp. 161, 174, 351-52). The three also told law enforcement that they thought about doing a driveby shooting, and they drove back in front of Respondent's house. (R. p. 174). However, they all indicated that they decided not to go through with the driveby shooting, and no shots were fired from the SUV. (R. p. 161). Eric indicated he did not see any shots fired from the truck, and he did not see anyone with a gun other than the man in the yard. (R. p. 232). Eric stated that neither he nor the victim had a gun that night. (R. p. 233).

Shade noted that Respondent went outside. (R. p. 14). She heard a gunshot while she was in the house on the floor. (R. p. 14). Asia also noted she heard more gunshots after her group got into Respondent's house. (R. p. 22). She did not see Respondent that night. (R. p. 27). Both Denzel and Antonio

testified that the group got down in the kitchen after they went in Respondent's house. (R. pp. 51, 66). Antonio stated that he heard roughly three gunshots. (R. p. 66). Rosalyn noted that while she was calling 911, Respondent went outside. (R. p. 88). Rosalyn heard Respondent say "don't do it, don't do it." (R. p. 88, 17). She heard another shot. (R. p. 88). Rosalyn also indicated that Respondent's roommate and his girlfriend came into the kitchen after shots were fired. (R. pp. 92-3). Williams testified that shortly after Respondent ran out of his room with the gun, he started hearing gunshots. (R. p. 128). Williams thought he heard three shots; one sounded close, but another sounded as if it was further away. (R. pp. 128-29).

#### **After the shooting ended.**

After the shooting was over, Williams peeked out his bedroom window and saw an Expedition with its lights out. (R. p. 131). Rosalyn testified that when Respondent came back into the house, he was asking if everyone was ok. (R. p. 93). Shade noted that when he came back inside, he told the group to go to their stepmother's house. (R. p. 14).

An officer came to the scene in response to the 911 call. (R. pp. 93-5, 112). Respondent testified that he told the officer that a vehicle was shooting at the house and he gave a description of what he saw. (R. p. 118). He did not tell the officer about firing shots in the air or at a vehicle. (R. p. 118). After Respondent and Rosalyn spoke with the officer, the officer left to pursue the SUV, and everyone inside the house left the scene. (R. pp. 93-5, 112, 131, 135).

Meanwhile, Eric ran to a nearby McDonald's, and then called his mother and requested a ride home. (R. pp. 230-31).

Law enforcement did stop the SUV shortly after the shooting. (R. p. 150). Reese stated that the gun from the truck was seized, along with the gun used by Respondent. (R. pp. 164-65). The SLED ballistics report indicated the projectile retrieved from the victim's body was consistent with being fired by a .380, which was the caliber weapon Respondent fired. (R. pp. 165-66). The victim died as the result of a gunshot wound to the head. (R. p. 166).

## ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY UNDER THE PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY ACT UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(A); THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COURT'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT WAS INSIDE HIS RESIDENCE WHEN THE SHOOTING OCCURRED, AND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE COURT'S FINDING THAT A REASONABLE PERSON WOULD HAVE BELIEVED THE VICTIM WAS IN THE PROCESS OF UNLAWFULLY AND FORCEFULLY ENTERING RESPONDENT'S RESIDENCE.

At issue in this case is whether Respondent is entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act when he shot and killed an innocent bystander not related to the individuals and vehicle that Respondent perceived to be a threat to the safety of his family. The trial court erred in finding Respondent was entitled to immunity from prosecution under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A). First, contrary to the trial court's findings, there was no evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing that the victim forcibly entered or was in the process of forcefully entering the victim's dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle or was attempting to remove someone from Respondent's residence. Second, when the shooting occurred, Respondent was in his yard and not in his dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle when he fired shots at the victim. Since the victim was not forcefully entering or had not forcibly entered Respondent's residence when he was shot, Respondent was not entitled to the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A). Third, the court's finding that Respondent's belief that a forcible entry was occurring is not supported by the record. As a result, the trial court abused its discretion in finding Respondent was entitled to immunity under the Act.

### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Review is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. Id. The appellate court may not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but must determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; see generally Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991) ("In law actions, the lower court must be affirmed where there is "any evidence" to support its findings.").

Whether a defendant is entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act must be decided prior to trial if either party moves for a determination regarding the Act's application to a defendant's case. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). "[W]hen a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence." Id. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. S.C. Code § 16-11-440(A) states,

A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

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