STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 10 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

SHANNON SCOTT,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002124

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in finding respondent was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A); There was no evidence to support the court's finding that respondent was inside his residence when the shooting occurred, and there was no evidence to support the court's finding that a reasonable person would have believed the victim was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering respondent's residence?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in finding respondent was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C); The statute requires the defendant to actually be attacked prior to using deadly force against the victim, and there was no evidence presented at respondent's hearing to support a finding he was attacked by the victim in this case?

COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether there was evidence to support the trial court's ruling that respondent was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) since respondent was in his home when he learned a car was chasing his daughter in the car she was riding in, the children were instructed to come home, shots were fired towards respondent and his home as the children took cover inside, and respondent only stepped outside the home briefly to attempt to quell the violent attack?

2.

Whether there was evidence to support the trial judge's ruling that respondent was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C), since when respondent was outside his house on the stoop or porch, or in the curtilage he was in "another place" he had a right to be, and he was acting to defend himself and his family as envisioned by the statute, and he had the right to stand his ground.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Shannon Scott was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 303. Respondent filed a Notice of Motion for Hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C), and Motions to Enforce the Protections of the Act. R. 305-307.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Maite Murphy on October 12-14, 2013. Todd Rutherford represented respondent. The assistant solicitors were April Sampson, Dolly Garfield and Brent Arant.

On October 9, 2013 Judge Murphy issued her order granting respondent immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 384.

The state filed a notice of intent to appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

The state on appeal breaks down its two arguments into several subparts. However, the state's legal argument to the trial judge at the evidentiary hearing about why respondent should not be granted immunity were almost entirely about the state's version of the credibility of the witnesses that testified during the evidentiary hearing. See R. 287, l. 8 – 301, l. 23. A close examination of the argument put forth by the solicitor to the trial judge shows that none of the arguments on appeal, in fairness to the trial judge, were presented to her for consideration at the evidentiary hearing, or presented in the fashion they are now presented to this Court. While respondent does not find the arguments for denying immunity presented to his Court particularly persuasive, it was nonetheless not fair to the trial judge to not argue them to her, and the state's arguments on appeal are therefore procedurally barred.¹

Relevant Facts

In the order granting immunity the judge concluded that respondent's testimony was "very credible". She noted that respondent testified that he knew of previous problems reported to law enforcement and that he knew "this girl [Teesha] and others were chasing his children." The judge also wrote: "The defendant testified that he was not a gun owner, but in order to defend and protect his family, he grabbed Mr. Williams' [his roommate's] gun. His testimony was that the SUV [the truck with Teesha and others inside] stopped in

¹ For example, the solicitor claimed respondent fired first and consequently he should not be entitled to immunity, and she argued that the decedent did not do anything wrong, and therefore respondent was not entitled to immunity. R. 296, ll. 3- 297, l. 5. Suffice it to say that the statutory arguments contained in thirty-one page brief were not fairly put to Judge Murphy for consideration during the hearing.

front of his house, and he could see arms out of the windows. This testimony is corroborated by both the statements of Ms. Carter and Ms. Davis.” R. 390.

The judge also found that respondent’s testimony was credible wherein he said that **both** the Honda [in which the decedent was driving], and the SUV [Teesha’s vehicle] drove past his home and turned around and stopped in front of the residence. “This is consistent with the gunshot entering the driver’s side window of the victim’s car. His testimony was very credible that he heard a gunshot. Hearing a gunshot, along with the threats, the chase, and being confronted at his home as a target of a drive-by shooting, with his children inside, created reasonable fear of imminent peril of death for him and his family.” R. 390.

Thus, although the state’s argument at trial focused almost solely on the credibility of the witnesses, it is important to note that the judge, who observed the demeanor of the witnesses at the hearing, most importantly, found respondent’s testimony very credible. She found any assertion that Teesha did not intend to exact violence that night where she had threatened a drive-by shooting was “pure fabrication.” “The credible testimony established that they turned the SUV (car #2) around, turned off the lights, rolled down the windows and drove by the Defendant’s home and began to fire.” R. 389.

Trial witness

Shade Scott was respondent’s seventeen-year-old daughter. R. 7, l. 23 – 8, l. 3. Shade remembered that on April 18, 2010 they went to a teen party at the Kia House which is located off of Two Notch Road in Columbia. She was with her friends Asia, Crackle [Denzel Davis], Tone [Antonio Scott], Ashley and Avia. R. 8, ll. 4-9.

While at the party Shade recalled that some “girls started with me.” Teesha was hitting Shade on the back of her head – “flipping my hair, like back flipping my hair trying to hit me, but she was just flipping my hair.” R. 8, ll. 16 – 24.

Shade testified that Teesha came out into the parking lot wanting to fight with her. R. 9, ll. 10-21. Shade and her group all got in the car, and Crackle was driving. Teesha and Keewee were in an SUV [the truck] and they began following their car. When they came to a stoplight: “I guess they thought we was going to stop. The light was red, we, actually ran the stoplight. They pulled into the median and they was getting out of the car and we ran the stoplight.” R. 10, ll. 5-19.

When Teesha’s truck continued to follow them Shade said she called her father and told him that the people following them had a gun. Respondent told them to come to his house. As they drove down Two Notch towards Beltline Blvd. near the McDonald’s Teesha’s vehicle continued to follow them. Crackle turned the car into the police station, but when they noticed no police officers were there they made a U-turn. “They then came back towards Beltline.” R. 11, ll. 15-23. Shade said they continued “trying to get away from them.” R. 11, ll. 24-25.

Shade testified as they continued to try and evade the truck “we had to drive through someone’s yard to get away from them. So after we drove through the yard, they start following us again. Finally, we made it to my father’s house. When we got there, we pulled in the backyard. I seen the truck go down the road and come back up with their headlights off. And when I got in the backyard, my daddy told all of us to go in the kitchen, that’s where we went. And I didn’t see anything after that.” R. 12, ll. 1-20.

Shade said all of the teenagers got on the floor in the kitchen. She was very scared that they were going to get shot. R. 13, ll. 14-25.

Asia Mills was also at the teen club that night. She remembered that some of the girls were picking on Shade. Teesha told Asia that she was going to slap Shade. Asia testified that Teesha “was getting crazy.” Asia told Shade to go to the car, and Teesha was trying to hit Shade in the back of the head as she went towards the car. R. 19, l. 7- 20, l. 13.

Asia recalled that they pulled out of the parking lot, and the truck started following them. She saw Teesha with a gun in her hand “and she [Teesha] was running behind us, which made us flee and whatever.” R. 19, l. 7- 20, l. 13.

Asia described the journey of the truck following them in much the same fashion as Shade. When they got to the house where respondent lived the truck “turned their lights off while we were in the car and they started shooting. Then momma told us to come inside the house. We ran inside the house and I still heard gunshots.” Asia did not see respondent: “I didn’t see, I really didn’t see anything. The only thing I was just – I was just in fear of my life because I know these girls and I know that when they say they are going to do something or if they are behind you like this, I know it’s going to be trouble.” R. 20, l. 8 – 21, l. 24.

Ave Fuller remembered the teen party at Kia’s that evening. She recalled Teesha slapping Shade in the head. Teesha told Ave: “I ain’t got no problem with y’all, but your step-sister, [Shade] that little red girl, I’m going to slap the S out of her.” Teesha ran and hit Shade in the back of the head. “So we all got in the car and they started chasing us.” R. 36, l. 18 – 37, l. 11.

Ave also testified about the chase, and she said when they pulled in respondent's backyard "the other car cut their headlights off. I saw the gun hanging out the window and they shot and we ducked down in the seat... I started crying... then my mom told us to run in the back, like through the back door so they wouldn't see us and that's when I heard more gunshots." R. 37, l. 1 – 39, l. 10.

Denzel Davis [Crackle] remembered that Teesha had a gun in her hand, and her truck followed them as they sought to escape the situation at the Kia club with her. At one point Denzel testified: "I made a wrong turn and I had to make another turn because I hit a dead end." When he hit the dead end Teesha's truck tried to block them from leaving. R. 49, l. 8 – 51, l. 25.

Denzel said he was able to escape the attempt to block them in, and he was able to make it to respondent's house. "I received directions to go inside the back of the house because of gunshots. And this was for safety, of course. And once I was inside the house I was told to get down." R. 49, l. 8 – 51, l. 25.

Antonio Bennett [Tone] was not related to respondent. He testified that another girl he did not know got in an altercation with Shade. Antonio's brother was trying to "comfort Shade at the time." He recalled a security guard telling them to get in the car, and to go home. As they drove he remembered someone in their car with Shade called "their parent," and they were given directions to Respondent's house. R. 63, l. 6 – 64, l. 25.

"When we got to the house, everybody was getting out of the car and given directions to go in the house and get down. When I was getting out, I heard the first gunshot." R. 64, l. 22 – 65, l. 4.

Antonio testified when they got inside the house, and on the kitchen floor, he thought he heard about three gunshots. R. 66, ll. 9-16. Antonio said he was afraid of the gun and gunshots, and he said everyone trying to get down on the kitchen floor. R. 67, ll. 2-8.

Rosalyn Scott was engaged to respondent, who she called "Pocko," at the time of this April 18, 2010 incident. R. 80, ll. 3-21. Rosalyn intended to spent the night at respondent's house. The original plan was for them to return to their home after the teen party. Rosalyn texted her daughter, Ashley, because she had told them to be home at her house by a certain time, and she was now worried about them. She received a text back: "Mom, they're following us." After she texted Ashley back she learned that Teesha and her associates were the ones following them in the truck. R. 80, l. 20 – 81, l. 11.

Rosalyn remembered respondent was asleep when these text messages began. Rosalyn received another text telling her that Teesha's truck was continuing to chase them. Rosalyn was afraid because of prior incidents with Teesha "and a whole bunch of girls." Rosalyn said in the past Teesha and her sister and a lot of other girls had come to their house to "fight Shade." R. 83, l. 21 – 84, l. 17.

Rosalyn next received a call from Shade's cell phone. Rosalyn was extremely concerned because she thought if they got to her house alone "it's going to be bad because I'm not there." R. 81, l. 1 – 83, l. 11.

Rosalyn said she nudged respondent, and told him to wake up. "Those girls are following them." She testified that respondent told her to tell the girls to come to his house, and that they would take them home together. R. 85, ll. 3-14.

Rosalyn remembered that it seemed like it “took them forever to come.” She said she stood on the porch with respondent waiting for the children when “all of a sudden, you could hear tires like screeching.” R. 86, l. 10 – 87, l. 7.

She saw Danzel’s car coming down the street, and she saw respondent motioning for him to turn into the yard. She recalled that he turned into the yard “so fast,” and with another car coming behind them “on his tail.” She was afraid Danzel was going to lose control of the car, and hit either a tree or the house. R. 86, l. 10 – 87, l. 7.

Rosalyn testified that the truck that was following Danzel’s car went down the street, and made a U-turn by the Allstate building. She noticed another car behind the truck do the same thing. “And I’m like, Oh Shit, you know, what is this? What is this? At that point, Shannon [respondent] and I went back inside the house trying to round up the kids to get them inside the car. I’m going through the back door to where the kitchen is, I heard a shot.” R. 85, l. 3 – 87, l. 14.

Rosalyn said she ran to the backdoor to get the teenagers inside. She heard a shot. She yelled for them to come inside quickly, and she heard respondent say: “Call 911.” Rosalyn got on the telephone, and she told the 911 dispatcher: “They’re shooting at us. I was like they’re shooting at us.” R. 86, l. 10 – 88, l. 21.

Rosalyn testified she was doing her best to get everyone down on the floor, and trying to make sure they were safe. R. 92, ll. 8-11. After the shooting, and talking to the police, Rosalyn said she remained scared because she did not know if anyone was going to come back by and do a drive-by shooting at Respondent’s house. It was undisputed that Teesha had discussed a drive-by shooting with her friends that evening. R. 93, ll. 11-21.

Respondent's testimony

Respondent testified next during the evidentiary hearing. As seen above, the trial judge found critical parts of respondent's testimony very credible, and parts of it were also corroborated. Respondent worked two jobs, and he worked seven days a week. He was either at the Jiffy Lube, or a gas station that employed him. He was thirty-six years old. R. 101, ll. 2-13.

Respondent termed the night of April 18, 2010 "a nightmare." He recalled Rosalyn started texting Ashley because she had not heard from her as expected -- seemingly that they were home. They next received a telephone call from Shade after being told by text message that they were being chased. R. 101, l. 20 – 102, l. 7.

Respondent remembered that Rosalyn was on the telephone, and she was hysterical. She told him that "the girls are messing with our girls again." Respondent recalled the girls Rosalyn was talking about -- he did not know them personally -- but they would drive by their house, scream, provoke and harass his daughters. R. 102, ll. 13-21.

After the teenagers were instructed to come into his house respondent remembered hearing tires screeching. "I hear engines revving up, similar to Dukes of Hazard, like a race, like cars racing, but I couldn't see anything. That's when I opened the door." He remembered seeing two cars "bumper to bumper almost." He was now in the front yard, and he told Danzel's car to go around the back while they were being chased. He remembered the teenagers were hysterical. R. 102, l. 13 – 103, l. 25.

Respondent remembered while the car went into the backyard he saw a truck coming with "some more headlights [the Honda] behind it." Respondent went into the kitchen, in the back of the house, to open the backdoor. He heard a gunshot. He recalled

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